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THE INDEPENDENT INQUIRY INTO CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE 

Witness Statement of MARK DA VIES 

I, MARK DAVIES, of the Department of Health, Richmond House, 79 VVhitehall, London, 

W1A 2NS will say as follows:-

Introduction 

1. I am employed by the Department of Health ('DH") as the Director of Population 

Health. I have worked for DH since 1985 and in that time have performed a number of 

roles. At the time of the National Apology to the former child migrants on 24 February 

2010 I was the Director of Inequalities and Partnership. I have been in my present role 

since July 2016. I set out in my first witness statement more detail about my 

responsibilities generally and in respect of matters relating to child migration. 

2. I make this statement in response to the Rule 9 request served upon DH seeking 

evidence from the government 1 on the topics set out herein. Save where otherwise 

stated, evidence about DH involvement from 2007 onwards is from my own knowledge. 

In all other respects the evidence I can give the Inquiry is limited to what can be 

ascertained from documents that have been identified to me from a review of 

departmental files and files held by The National Archives {"TNA")2. 

3. DH has reiterated throughout these proceedings that the Government stands by the 

2010 National Apology. The policy of child migration was wrong. It should not have 

1 
As set out in my first witness statement, in July 2016 DH sought and obtained CP status in this strand of the 

Inquiry, acting on behalf of all Central Government Departments who have responsibility for or involvement with 
child migration from 1945 onwards. 
2 For references to documents in this statement I have used Relativity references where they are available. 
\/\/here they are not I have used the TNA file reference. A further version of the statement will be prepared when 
the documents are available on Relativity. 
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been sanctioned or facilitated by the government. It is hard to believe today that the 

policy could ever have been justified by the welfare needs of the children concerned. 

This starting point has underpinned all the work that DH has done to support former 

child migrants. 

4. Within the context of a policy that has now been accepted as wrong, the government 

fully accepts there were shortcomings in its implementation and oversight of that policy. 

5. In the case of children in institutional care there are a number of layers of protection, 

including: 

a. those who are responsible for making decisions about where children 

should live and who should look after them; 

b. those responsible for the day to day care of the children; 

c. those who employ the carers and ensure that they are suitable people to be 

in a child care setting; 

d. local and national authorities whose responsibilities include inspection of 

arrangements in the areas for which they are responsible; and 

e. the government that sets the legislative and policy framework. 

\J\Jhen looking at child migration (and without wishing to make excuses), the 

difficulties in setting the legislative and policy framework appear to have been all the 

more acute because the children were the other side of the world, in an age where 

communications and travel are not what they are today. From my review of the 

historical documents in this case (which has been for the purposes of this Inquiry, 

and I do not claim any special expert knowledge in respect of this material) I would 

accept that more could and should have been done by the government to improve 

the framework within which the policy of child migration operated. At key junctures -

particularly after publication of the Ross Report - the government failed to take steps 

to ensure that children were not sent to institutions about which there were reasons 

to be concerned. Without wishing to minimise or justify the Government's failings, I 

consider that ultimately the problem was the policy of permitting children to be 

migrated without their families. 

2 
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6. I propose to set out and answer each of the questions posed in the Rule 9 request in 

the order in which they have been put by the Inquiry. I have amended the questions 

relating to the period ending 1970 to refer to the government (rather than DH or its 

predecessor organisations) as DH had no involvement in the child migration 

programmes. 

Involvement, and I or knowledge of the government in relation to the operation of 
Child Migration Programmes in England and Wales in the period between 2 
September 1945 and 31 December 1974. 

7. In the period 1945 - 1974 the Home Office was in frequent contact with the voluntary 

organisations in the UK responsible for sending children overseas. As addressed in 

more detail below, whilst the Home Office did not have any active involvement in the 

arrangement of the migration programmes run by voluntary and church organisation, it 

did have knowledge of and input into the operation of the programmes. I would 

summarise the Home Office's involvement as having been in the following areas 

(which are all covered in the relevant places in this statement): 

a. Consent by the Secretary of State for the migration of children pursuant to 

s.84(5) of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933 and s.17 Children Act 

1948. 

b. Advising on approval of homes for funding pursuant to the Empire 

Settlement Acts (the 1922 Act was renewed in 1937 and 1952, and 

subsequently as the Commonwealth Settlement Act in 1957, 1962 and 

1967 - hereafter collectively "the Empire Settlement Acts"). 

c. Liaison with the sending organisations about, inter alia, arrangement for 

the selection, transport and care of potential child migrants, including 

attendance at meetings. 

d. Inspections of the farm schools: whilst the UK Government had no formal 

jurisdiction to conduct inspections in Australia there were arrangements 

whereby inspections were conducted by or on behalf of the Home Office. In 

addition the Home Office were provided with the reports prepared by the 

local authorities in Australia following their inspections, and on occasion 

3 
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with the views of or reports from UK nationals who attended some of the 

institutions with which this Inquiry is concerned. 

e. Inspections of institutions in the UK where children spent time before being 

migrated. 

f. Work on drawing up regulations under s.33 Children Act 1948 and, when 

the regulations were not made, making and giving effect to informal 

agreements with the voluntary organisations for inspection of their 

arrangements. 

8. In addition, the Commonwealth Relations Office 3 ("CRO") was responsible for 

approving applications for funding for migration of children. This was in accordance 

with the power granted to the Secretary of State to cooperate in migration schemes, 

pursuant to the provisions of the Empire Settlement Acts. 

Rationale for participation in the child migration programmes 

9. I am not able to add to the analysis by Professors Constantine and Lynch ("the 

experts") as to why the policy of allowing child migration continued at all after the 

Second World War. I do note that the documents suggest that there was some 

uncertainty in government in the mid 1940s as to what the government's policy would 

be about the emigration of children and staff in the Home Office appear to have been 

careful to avoid taking any action in respect of the policy until c.1947 (by which stage 

the Curtis Committee had reported). See for example: 

a. 13 December 1945 letter from Ms Wall in the Home Office to Mr Turner in 

the Ministry of Health, in which she advised deferring any action regarding 

bringing the possibilities of child emigration to the public assistance 

authorities until more was known about the government policy 

(MH102/1399 pp41-42). 

b. In 1947 a representative from Save the Children wrote to the Home Office 

requesting an indication as to the government's general policy regarding 

child migration. Whilst Save the Children were not proposing to undertake 

3 A Cabinet Office that existed between 1945 and 1966 with responsibility for the relationships with 
the Commonwealth nations. 

4 
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child migration work themselves, they wanted to know the position for their 

"friends in Australia". Miss Maxwell of the Home Office wrote back to say 

that the Home Office had "been looking into the general question of child 

emigration" and hoped to be able to revert soon. By the end of the year 

Save the Children had received no response, but there is a draft letter on 

the file saying that the Home Office was still unable to give a definite 

response (MH102/1551). 

10. Following the Children Act 1948 the Home Office became the central government 

ministry with overall national responsibility for children in care. Once it was clear that 

child migration programmes would be allowed to continue, the rationale for the Home 

Office's participation in the programmes as set out at paragraph 7 above, was 

premised on the welfare of the children migrated. There is evidence throughout the 

files that the Home Office did not want to promote child migration as a policy, but 

equally did not, during the relevant period, take a concerted stance against it. See for 

example: 

a. A memo prepared by Miss Maxwell of the Home Office on 26 June 1947 

"On the whole I think we should tend to be anti-emigration except where we 

can be fully satisfied that the child can only gain by it'' (EVVM000223 p.13); 

and 

b. A letter dated 19 March 1954 from Mr Oates of the Home Office to a Mr 

Dixon stating that "our view is that it is not for us to advocate the emigration 

of children in public care but that we should be prepared to act as an 

intermediary between the Commonwealth Relations Office and local 

authorities" - (EVVM000272 p.57). 

11 . I will address the Home Office's involvement in child migration in more detail below but 

it is worth noting from the outset that although no regulations were made under the 

1948 Act, they were in fact in contemplation until c 1954, with the effect that, 

throughout this period, staff in the Home Office anticipated having broader statutory 

responsibilities in the future. Thereafter (in 1957) the Home Office entered into 

voluntary inspection arrangements with the voluntary organisations which were 

designed to ensure satisfactory arrangements were in place for the welfare of the 

children (see paragraphs 17 and 34 below). 

5 
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12. The CRO retained responsibility for approving applications for funding of the schemes 

and for promoting good relations with the Australian authorities, who were generally 

keen to increase the number of children being migrated from the UK. 

Extent to which the government cooperated with any voluntary organisations and I or 
any local authority in England and Wales when determining which children should be 
sent as part of the Child Migration Programmes and. if relevant. when following up on 
the children's progress following their departure? Please provide a list of the key 
institutions with which the government collaborated in relation to the Child Migration 
Programmes. r 

13. Page 3 of the experts' first report contains a full list of the key institutions involved in 

the Child Migration Programmes. The government collaborated primarily with the UK 

based institutions and departments, and with the Australian Department of Immigration. 

Voluntary organisations 

14. In the post-war period it is clear that at least some of the voluntary organisations 

sought input from the Home Office as to their arrangements. The Home Office gave 

general guidance as to matters of selection and aftercare, but did not give specific 

input into individual cases. I refer to the following examples: 

a. Shortly after the war The Fairbridge Society wrote to the Home Office 

requesting the assistance of an expert from the Children's Department in 

the framing of The Fairbridge Society's new Charter and Articles of 

Association "for the purpose of bringing the work of Fairbridge in line with 

the new standards of child welfare, education and planning" (see letter of 7 

September 1945 from Charles Hambro, Chairman of the Fairbridge society 

to SS for Dominion Affairs MH102/1401 p.12). 

b. In 1947, following the conclusions set out in the Curtis Report regarding the 

emigration of children, Fairbridge asked the Home Office to provide a 

memorandum setting out in general terms the principles of child care in the 

Farm Schools and aftercare. The Home Office provided them with a 

memorandum entitled "Emigration of Children who have been deprived of a 

normal life", setting out its views on matters such as standards of care, 

selection, staffing in homes, education, aftercare and sharing of records 

concerning children. This was also provided to the Australian authorities by 

Mr Garnett, the High Commissioner (see CMT000207). 

6 
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c. A note of a meeting in July 1947, which appears to have been prepared by 

a representative from The Fairbridge Society, states that the purpose of the 

meeting was to explore the views of the Home Office Children's Department 

as to the care it expected to be given to homeless children who were 

migrated. The notes record that Miss Rosling (of the Home Office) 

mentioned a number of points of "supreme importance" in the care of the 

children, including: use of a trained social worker; the calibre of the 

principals of the farm schools; availability of records of the children; and the 

provision of modern training, education and equipment at the farm schools. 

Miss Rosling's notes on the file record that she gave the following advice: 

"Selection: no minimum age should be noted to ensure families are 
kept together; Type of children: emigration must be best thing for 
child, not just suitable. Preparation of child very important. Machinery 
of selection: Contact with LAs [Local Authorities] very necessary, 
Imperative child does not feel break of ties from UK. 

(Minutes Page MH102/1404 and typed note MH102/1403) 

d. October 1947 - January 1948: correspondence with and minutes 

concerning the Northcote Children's Emigration Fund proposal to emigrate 

children. In a letter of 12 January 1947 Ms Maxwell set out the 

government's position, that emigration would only take place where the 

Secretary of State was quite satisfied that there was no hope of a normal 

life for the child in this country (MH102/1591). 

e. In a file from May 1948 concerning an appeal in the press by the Royal 

Overseas League the notes on the minutes page state: 

"the Overseas League is becoming very active in regard to the 
emigration of children overseas mainly to New Zealand and Australia. 
We are not all together sure that in all cases they fully realise the 
needs of the children and the standard of care they should be given. 
After the passing of the New Bill it might be as well to have a general 
discussion with the League about emigration of children" 
(MH102/1564). 

f. In 1948 The Fairbridge Society sent the Home Office a report entitled 

"Fairbridge Farm Schools: Selection of Children", which set out proposals 

for the selection of children, having regard to Curtis Committee 

recommendations and the Children's Bill. In November 1948 Mr Prestige of 

the Home Office met with The Fairbridge Society and expressed some 

7 
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concerns about the report, including the Home Office's view that all case 

histories should be provided to the principal in Australia, who should be a 

suitable person to have such information. If he was not a suitable person to 

have such information he should not be principal. Further, trained social 

workers were essential for the selection process. The notes record that The 

Fairbridge Society agreed (albeit with some reluctance) (MH102/1404 and 

MH102/1405 p.3). 

g. In September 1948 the Home Office received a copy of a press article 

suggesting that the Church of England Children's Society was seeking to 

persuade the Canadian Government to allow the re-introduction of a 

scheme for British children to emigrate to Canada. In a letter to the Church 

of England Children's Society the Home Office said "that it has now been 

practice for some time for sending organisations to discuss proposals with 

the Home Office at an early stage" (MH102/1566 pp3-7). 

15. In 1953 the Overseas Migration Board was formed. It was the responsibility of the CRO 

and its remit included input into child migration. Its meetings were attended by MPs, 

representatives of the CRO and, on occasion, representatives from other interested 

bodies / organisations. See for example: 

a. Minutes from a meeting of 26 November 1953 which was attended by Mr 

Moss and Mr Oates of the Home Office. The minutes record that the Board 

had helped to secure for Mr Moss's report "the attention it had deservedly 

received". Mr Moss outlined his findings and explained that any expansion 

of the practice of child migration would have to be on a gradual scale. A 

member of the board noted that "local authorities, often from the most 

conscientious of motives, seemed to be reluctant to shed responsibility for 

children in their care". Mr Moss noted that "a very small number of cases of 

unsatisfactory settlement also had a disturbing effect•. It was agreed that 

the Board might endorse Mr Moss's recommendations and bring to the 

attention of local authorities the advantages of child migration (MH102/2048 

p.8). 

b. Minutes from a meeting of 29 March 1954 which was attended by 

representatives of Fairbridge. The chairman noted that the activities of 

Fairbridge had greatly impressed the Secretary of State for the CRO and 
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invited Mr Vaughan of Fairbridge to "give some account of what might be 

done to help the Society expand its activities" (MH102/2048 p.3) 

16. The Overseas Migration Board supported the practice of child migration and advocated 

for it to be continued and expanded in the 1950s. It did not have any input into 

decisions about which children were selected for migration, but had a role in ensuring 

that children continued to be migrated. 

17. Although the Ross Report had recommended in 1956 that the Secretary of State's 

approval be obtained for children in the care of voluntary societies, the government 

decided not to implement this recommendation but instead established voluntary 

inspection arrangements. This was achieved in 1957 with the cooperation of the 

voluntary organisations. The inspection arrangements did not include routine oversight 

by the Home Office of the children who were selected for migration, however they do 

appear to have required information to be provided as to the methods of selection. 

Home Office officials were sometimes invited to attend selection meetings and meet 

children who were to be migrated. See, for example: 

a. The inspection report of The Fairbridge Society in 1957. The inspector 

records the detail of the children selected for migration between 1950 and 

1957, and makes observations about the methods of selection and 

investigation (and in one case comments in respect of a boy who had not 

settled well that "it might be thought that a skilled social worker may have 

been able to improve the position so that emigration may not have been 

undertaken") (HO 361/50). 

b. The inspection report of the John Howard Mitchell Home in Knockholt , Kent 

dated 19 January 1959. The inspector met with a party of children, who 

were due to be migrated, and commented that "it is clear from this visit 

again that whilst Mrs G is in charge there is an honest and reliable 

assessment of the child's suitability for emigration and of his reactions to 

separation from his previous environment' (HO 361/50). 

c. A report by the inspector who attended the Dr Bamado's meeting of the 

Migration Placement Committee on 3 October 1957 (HO361/12). 

9 
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d. The inspection report of Dr Barnado's' Emigration Arrangements in June 

1960 which records that the inspector attended the emigration selection 

committee (HO361/12). 

e. The inspection report of Dr Barnado's' Emigration Arrangements in 

September 1962 in which the Inspector concludes that "the extent of the 

close consideration given by the emigration committee suggests that the 

welfare of this child is considered fully" (HO 361/12). 

Local Authorities 

18. The experts estimate that the total number of children migrated from local authority 

care after 1945 was some 400 (paragraph 2.4.4). As they say at paragraph 3.1.5 it is 

not possible to ascertain from the existing records the precise number of children who 

were migrated from local authority care over the relevant period or whether the 

government ever refused consent for a child to be migrated. However, it is not likely 

that the number of children migrated from local authority care was great. As is clear 

from a number of the documents I have seen, after the war local authorities were 

reluctant to arrange for children in their care to be migrated because of concerns about 

their welfare. See for example: 

a. At a meeting of the Overseas Migration Board on 7 June 1955, attended by 

Children's Officers from three local authorities, the Children's Officer for 

Essex stated that they felt that "children in their care would not necessarily 

be better off in Australia, and that with plenty of opportunities for education 

and employment, their statutory responsibilities towards these children 

could be satisfactorily carried out in the United Kingdom" and the London 

Officer stated that "the opportunities afforded to children in care in this 

country were, however, so good that there seemed no need to offer 

emigration as an alternative" (EWM000214 p.212-213). 

b. At a meeting with the Chief Migration Officer at Australia House the 

Children's Officer for Lancashire explained that "Children's Officers in the 

United Kingdom were not altogether satisfied that Australian methods of 

child care were comparable with those practised in Britain in the past few 

years" (EWM000214 p.205). 

10 
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c. On the minutes page of a Home Office file from 1955 it is recorded that "it 

must now be abundantly clear to Australia House that the child care 

authorities of this country have no esteem for Australian methods of 

childcare, and moreover consider that the prospects of deprived children 

here are as good as, if not better than what Australia has to offer" 

(EVvM000272 p.8-9) . 

d. A Home Office memorandum from 1969 records a visit from the director of 

Fairbridge who wanted to discuss how the benefits of child migration might 

be better appreciated by Local Authorities. E Morris of the Home Office 

explained to the Fairbridge representatives that "it was unlikely that any 

children's department would suggest the emigration of children without 

their parents" (BN29/1321) 

19. In an internal Home Office memorandum addressed to Mr Prestige from Mr Lyon dated 

24 May 1949 Mr Lyon states that no statistics have been kept and it is difficult to say 

how many consents (by the Secretary of State) had been given. He notes (which may 

explain the lack of records) that local authority consents are dealt with on the local 

authority care file rather than the emigration file. Mr Lyon suggests that the number of 

consents given is "a great deal less" than 50 since 02 (who from the context I infer are 

a team within the Home Office Children's Department) had taken over (MH102/2230). 

20. A relatively small number of children were migrated from local authority care. Save that 

the Secretary of State was required to consent to their migration, there is no indication 

that the Home Office had any involvement in the selection of the specific chi ldren. I am 

not able to say in what proportion of cases consent was withheld, but I refer the Inquiry 

to one memorandum in a Home Office file from 1951 which gives an example of when 

consent was withheld, and suggests that generally, where consent was withheld, this 

would be on legal grounds: 

We have however consulted them [Superintending Inspectors) where it 
appeared necessary to do so. For instance in June there was an application 
from West Sussex for consent to the emigration of six or seven children in the 
care of the local authority but accommodated in a voluntary home. It 
appeared to us that the local authority had not given full consideration to all 
the aspects which they have should have considered but had accepted the 
opinion of the voluntary society without much enquiry. We therefore asked SI 
[name] to interview the children's officer and find out all about it. SI gave 
valuable assistance and in the end consent was withheld for the time being in 
two of the cases ... . 

11 
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In dealing with applications the department is careful to see that the local 
authority have considered all relevant matters and very frequently write or 
telephone for further information before considering the application. Some of 
the cases present difficulties, which we can usually clear up on the telephone 
or by correspondence, but others are clear and straightforward and a reply of 
"yes" or "no" (the latter usually on legal grounds) can be sent immediately. 

(MH102/2042 p.2) 

21 . Both a note from Miss Maxwell (Home Office) in 1947, and the memo from Mr Lyon, 

provide some insight into the matters with which the Home Office was particularly 

concerned for the purposes of giving consent for a child to be migrated (and so into the 

sort of children it was envisaged might be migrated): 

Maxwell Memo 16 June 1947 

I feel the only practical solution on emigration is to consider each child's 
particular position without undue regard for national and wider considerations, 
on the lines that where a child has absolutely no relations in this country, and 
no prospect of being adopted or boarded out, that is, he is likely to remain an 
institution child all his life and have only himself to rely on and work for when 
he is grown up, we should not prevent emigration ... in such a case there 
would not seem to be any harm in his emigrating, but even so we should be 
satisfied that he will be properly looked after and have the opportunity of 
learning a trade which will support him when he leaves the home ... I think it 
would be wrong to agree to the emigration of a child for whom there were 
prospects of a home life of his own in Britain, even if the prospects are remote 
at the time of the application for emigration ... On the whole I think we should 
tend to be anti-emigration except where we can be fully satisfied that the child 
can only gain by it. It is, after all, an irrevocable decision. Once done it can 
only, with the utmost difficulty, be undone " (Miss Maxwell memo 26 June 
1947 Ev\lM000223) 

Lyon Memo May 1949 

In dealing with applications by local authorities for consent to emigration, the 
policy is to ensure primarily that the statutory conditions are satisfied and 
particularly that so far as can be foreseen emigration is in the child's interest. 
The child's consent is required to be in writing and must be given with the 
understanding of what is involved, having regard to his age. Enquiry is always 
made as to the possibility of the parents' home being rehabilitated either then 
or in the foreseeable future and consent is not given unless it is clear that the 
child is abandoned or has no real prospect of a home life in England. 

22. One Home Office file from 1950 gives some understanding of the process by which 

consent was sought and obtained from the Secretary of State. 

12 

DOH000097-12 



ICA.001.001.0051 

a. On 5 July 1950 the Children's Officer at Cornwall County Council wrote to 

the Home Office attaching a schedule of the names of children it was 

proposed to put forward for migration (MH102/1954 p47). 

b. A Home Office official comments on the minutes page that "we are not even 

told which country the children will go to, though it may be assumed 

Australia" and later that "all the children wish to emigrate, but some of them 

are rather young to form a proper opinion· (MH102/p.3). 

c. On 19 July 1950 the Home Office responded seeking further information as 

to whether the children were sufficiently mature to have an understanding of 

what is entailed by emigration (MH102/1954 p. 45). 

d. It appears that initially one child was considered too young and consent 

withheld, but after speaking to the Children's Officer the Home Office did 

give consent (MH102/1954 p.11 and p.31). 

23. In 1957, following the publication of the Ross Report the Children's Department of the 

Home Office wrote to the local authorities to say that a sub-committee, that had been 

established in the wake of the Ross Report, had resolved as follows: 

That whilst the sub-committee do not wish to discourage migration in individual 
cases, e.g. when a child has no relation in this country or has relatives in 
Australia and the conditions of the particular home to which he is going are 
considered suitable for him, they cannot, having regard to the report of the fact­
finding mission and in partirular to their recommendations for changes in the 
arrangements which should govern residential establishments, and to the need 
for a review of the approve list of establishments, recommend county councils 
as a matter of general policy, at the present time, to increase the number of 
children of school age in care who are sent as migrants to Australia (e.g. 
EVVM000272 p.25) 

On what basis were the children selected / put forward by the government for 
participation in the Child Migration Programmes? Were any particular provisions 
made for vulnerable children? 

24. No central government department was involved in the selection or proposal of 

children for participation in the child migration programmes. 

25. As set out at paragraph 21 above, the Home Office clearly envisaged that the only 

children who should be selected for migration (whether by the local authorities or by 

the voluntary organisations) were those (1) who were mentally and physically suitable 

(see e.g. Emigration of Children who have been deprived of a normal life 

CMT000227), (2) who wanted to go and (3) for whom there was no real prospect of 

having a home life in Britain, 

13 
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26. However, as the Home Office did not partake in the selection process and approval for 

migration was not required for the vast majority of children who were migrated, there 

does not appear to have been any mechanism by which these criteria could be or were 

enforced. 

27. In respect of vulnerable children, the Home Office repeatedly told the voluntary 

organisations that it was very important that the selection of children was carried out 

by experienced social workers who understood the children who had been identified as 

potentially suitable for migration and the environment to which the children would be 

going. Thus, as well as being physically fit and able, it appears the Home Office 

wanted, but would not have been able to require, the voluntary organisations to take 

steps to ensure the children who were selected were emotionally robust and prepared. 

The voluntary organisations appear to have accepted these principles of selection 

(see, for example, the note of a meeting of the Council of Voluntary Organisations for 

Child Emigration on 27 September 1951 - AFC000015 pp4-5). However, by today's 

standards it is likely that the vast majority of the children even considered for migration 

would be understood to be vulnerable by the very fact that they were living in care or 

born to families unable to support them. 

Nature and extent of the government's responsibilities to assure itself as to the 
welfare of any children sent from England and Wales to the Destination Territories 
under the Child Migration Programmes. "J 

28. In the DH Memorandum to the Health Select Committee in 1998 the government 

annexed a document which set out the legislative framework pursuant to which the 

government was involved in and funded the child migration schemes (DOH000001 

p.11-14). 

29. The Secretary of State's legal responsibilities to assure himself as to the welfare of 

child migrants depended upon whose care the child was in at the time (s)he was 

identified as potentially suitable for emigration. 

30. The Curtis Committee's recommendation in respect of the continued migration of 

deprived children was that whilst the 'opportunity' should remain open for those with 

'an unfortunate background' and who 'express a desire for it', the Secretary of State 

should only consent if the arrangements made by the government of the receiving 
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country for the children's welfare and aftercare were comparable to those proposed by 

the Curtis Committee for deprived children in this country. 

31 . Section 17(1) of the Children Act 1948 provided that local authorities could arrange for 

the emigration of a child in their care with the consent of the Secretary of State. Section 

17(2) provided that such consent should not be given unless the Secretary of State 

was "satisfied that emigration would benefit the child, and that suitable arrangements 

have been or will be made for the child's reception and welfare in the country to which 

he is going" (and additionally satisfied as to consultation with parents and guardians, 

and that the child consented). Thus, the legislative provisions for children in local 

authority care went some way to giving effect to the recommendation of the Curtis 

Committee. 

32. However, for children in the care of or sent by the voluntary organisations, legislative 

effect was not given to the recommendation of the Curtis Committee because (a) the 

1948 Act did not require the Secretary of State's consent at all to the migration of 

children in the care of the voluntary organisations and (b) the regulations that the 

Secretary of State was empowered to make pursuant to s.33(1) "to control the making 

and carrying out by voluntary organisations the arrangements for the emigration of 

children" were not made. 

33. I have been provided with documents from TNA which provide some insight into the 

history of the attempts to draw up regulations pursuant to s.33, the approach taken by 

the Home Office when regulations were still in contemplation, and, when those 

attempts ceased, the informal arrangements put in place by agreement between the 

Home Office and the voluntary organisations. 

a. When the Children's Bill was being debated in the House of Lords in 1948, 

in response to a question as to what assurances there would be as to the 

arrangements for child migrants, the Lord Chancellor gave an assurance 

"that the Home Office intended to secure that children should not be 

emigrated unless there was absolute satisfaction that proper arrangements 

had been made for the care and upbringing of each child" (CMT000384). 

b. A note from a meeting with the Home Office and the CRO on 28 June 1950 

states "until Regulations under the Children Act were made, while the Home 

Office felt bound to comment on any proposed scheme on the basis of what 
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seemed likely to be included in the regulations when made, they recognised 

that the Commonwealth Relations Office might not think that approval could 

be withheld on grounds which could not yet be enforced. It was to be 

expected that the present position would be mitigated [when] the general 

shape of the regulations could be settled and Commonwealth Relations 

Office consulted on them, not least from the point of view (of] their 

applicability to conditions in the various countries concerned" (MH102/2032) 

c. Drafting of the regulations in the early 1950s reached quite an advanced 

stage. I refer the Inquiry to the following file references which show the 

amount of work and consideration that went into drafting regulations: 

• A provisional draft of the regulations from 1951, and the legal advice 

given in respect of that draft (MH102/2040); 

• The comments of the Australian Department of Immigration and of 

the High Commissioner on the draft regulations in 1951 

(MH102/2038); 

• The Memorandum by the Home Office on the Regulations dated 

June 1952 (MH102/2043); 

• The views of the Council of Voluntary Organisations for Child 

Emigration expressed in a meeting on 23 October 1952 

(MH102/2043); 

• Discussion of the regulations at numerous meetings of the Advisory 

Council on Child Care (MH102/2043); 

• Documents showing the requests for and receipt of the views of the 

Superintending Inspectors (MH102/2043 p.98 - 111) 

d. It is clear that until about 1954 it was expected that regulations would 

eventually be drawn up. However by the end of 1954 the decision had 

been taken, as one CRO official said, to leave the regulations "in abeyance" 

(MH102/2056). There appear to have been various reasons for the decision 

not to draw up regulations. I understand that the primary reason was the 

problem that there was no jurisdiction to make regulations that governed 

standards and conditions in Australia. There was also a perception by 

1954, bolstered by Mr Moss's favourable report, that that there was no need 

for regulations. 
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34. By December 1956 the decision had been made to introduce a bill to extend the 

Empire Settlement Acts. Given the criticisms raised in the Ross Report shortly before 

this decision and the fact that regulations had not been made, it was proposed to enter 

into voluntary agreements with the voluntary organisations to enable supervision of 

their arrangements. See: 

a. Telegram dated 6 December 1956 from the CRO to the High Commission 

which reports that the Parliamentary Under Secretary of State will speak to 

the organisations about, inter alia, an agreement to official supervision of 

their arrangements. In the telegram the CRO also requests that the High 

Commission speak to the local authorities about including information in 

their reports about the quality of staff and their attitude towards care of 

children, rather than just the material details of the institutions (CMT000278 

p.3). 

b. Letter from CRO to voluntary organisations in December 1956 which 

explains that the proposal is to adopt an experimental system of voluntary 

inspections. "It is proposed that each organisation should agree to provide 

the Home Office ... on request with information about its activities and allow 

the Department's officers to see its arrangements on the lines set out at 

Annex A to this letter'' (MH102/1882 pp17-22). 

35. The voluntary organisations agreed to inspections of their arrangements. I have had 

sight of examples of the inspection notes in respect of Dr Barnado's and Fairbridge 

(see HO361/12 and HO361/50) The reports arising from these inspections include: 

a. Details of the facilities for and care of children in the UK institutions prior to 

being migrated. 

b. Details made of arrangements for the selection, transport, care in Australia 

and after care for the child migrants. 

c. Examples of selection decisions taken by the voluntary organisation and 

notes of meetings of the selection committees {which appear to have been 

occasionally attended by the inspectors) - see paragraph 17 above. 
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36. I am not able to say whether these inspections continued until the end of child 

migration or, if they did, to comment on the frequency. 

Details of any applicable policies and standards for child safety and welfare for 
children involved in the Child Migration Programmes. Please include details 
applicable to Ci) the period a child was in the UK: (ii) the period they travelled abroad: 
and (iii) the period during which they remained a child but were abroad. D 

37. The recommendation of the Curtis Committee was that the standards in the receiving 

country for the care of children should be comparable to the standards the Committee 

proposed for Great Britain. Those standards included, in particular: 

a. The appointment of Children's Officers with responsibility for the children in 

each local authority's care; 

b. Staff training for those involved in the care of children; 

c. A recognition that whilst institutional care was the least satisfactory option, 

where there was no alternative: (i) it should be provided in small homes with 

no more than 12 children and ideally no more than 8, (ii) siblings should be 

kept together and (iii) the children should be encouraged to maintain 

contact with relatives and develop friendships outside the home. 

38. The Home Office's expectations in this regard were communicated to the voluntary 

organisations in the document I have referred to above entitled "Emigration of Children 

who have been deprived of a normal life" (CMT000207). The introductory paragraphs 

state: 

Introduction 

The question of the emigration of children who have been deprived of 
a normal home life can only be considered in the light of the standard 
of care which these children may hope to enjoy in this country as the 
provisions of the Education Act 1944 and the recommendations of the 
Curtis Committee take effect. The child deprived of a home of its own, 
needs a substitute home and, to quote the Curtis Report, a substitute 
home, if it is to give a child what he would have got from a good family 
home must provide 

(i) Affection and personal interest; understanding of his 
defects; care for his future; respect for his 
personality and regard for his self esteem 
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(ii) Stability; the feeling that he can expect to remain 
with those who will continue to care for him till he 
goes out into the world on his own feet 

(iii) Opportunity of making the best of his ability and 
aptitudes, whatever they may be, as such 
opportunity is made available to the child in the 
normal home 

(iv) A share in the common life of a small group of 
people in a homely environment 

Standards of Care 

It follows from this conception of the kind of care that should be given 
to a deprived child and the prospect of its realisation in this country 
that it would be difficult to justify proposals to emigrate deprived 
children unless the Societies or Homes to which they go are willing 
and able to provide care and opportunity on the same level. The first 
requirement from an emigration Home or Society must be, therefore, 
the assurance that a child emigrant will have equally good care and 
opportunities overseas as he would have had in this country. 

39. The document goes on to set out the expected standards with regard to: 

a. Continuing responsibility of the parent organisation (reflecting the concern 

that the welfare of the children should be an ongoing obligation on the part 

of the sending organisations); 

b. Liaison officers (to ensure the conditions and standards in Australia and 

report back); 

c. Local Committees or Boards of Governors with specialist knowledge to 

advise the principals in the homes; 

d. Calibre of staff (I note here no mention of training of staff); 

e. Life within the home (small groups, interactions outside the home, family 

links, environment in the home and comparable levels of pocket money, 

encouraging children to develop judgment and sense of responsibility); 

f. Education and training (made available to the children); 

g. Hostels (to facilitate further education and training); 
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h. Aftercare; 

i. Contact with outside world; 

j. Records. 

40. I also refer the Inquiry to a document entitled '"Note prepared by the Home Office on 

Questions for consideration in connection with the Emigration of Children", which was 

prepared for a meeting of the Advisory Council on Child Care in 1949. This sets out the 

Home Office's view as to the general principles that should be applied, including that 

"the standard of upbringing overseas should be as high as that aimed at in this 

country", and provides fairly detailed notes on its expectations as to the arrangements 

that should be in place for the selection, care and after care of children selected for 

migration (MH102/1329 pp21-26). 

41 . At a meeting in June 1950 the Home Office reminded the CRO of the recommendation 

of the Curtis Committee as to equivalence of standards. The notes record that the 

Home Office said that issues concerning the standard of care in the institutions and 

aftercare, as well as material conditions, should be addressed before approval was 

given to an establishment (MH102/2032 pp.30-32). The Home Office subsequently 

sent a list to the CRO of matters on which information was required. The list was sent 

to the British High Commissioner who passed it on to the Australian Immigration 

Department and the local state authorities. V\/hilst the local state authorities "did not 

wish to take exception" to any of the points in the document, they thought the matters 

covered were taken for granted by any authority dealing in child welfare, and the 

preparation of such a report would result in a great deal of unnecessary work. They 

made the further point that "the questionnaire was drawn up entirely in light of 

conditions in the United Kingdom and did not allow for the very different circumstances, 

especially of climate, in Australia" (MH102/2032 p.13). 
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How, and to what extent does the government say it fulfilled its legal responsibilities 
towards children sent to the Destination Territories under the Child Migration 
Programmes? r 

42. Looking at the narrow question of the Secretary of State's statutory duty under the 

1948 Act (namely to exercise the power of consent properly, i.e. not to give consent to 

a local authority seeking to procure the emigration of children unless properly satisfied 

that emigration would benefit the child and that suitable arrangements have been made 

for the child's reception and welfare), I am unable to say whether the government in the 

case of each child discharged that duty. Those questions will be fact specific for each 

case, and I do not have the material available to me to comment or to assist the Inquiry 

further. 

43. With regard to the broader picture, however, the government fully accepts that ii failed 

to ensure, as the Curtis Committee had recommended, that the arrangements and 

standards of care for those children in Australia were comparable to those in this 

country. In particular, I note the failure to ensure that no further children were sent to 

the institutions that had been put on a 'blacklist' following the Ross Report in 1956 until 

evidence was received that the institutions had improved (which is discussed by 

Professor Constantine in 'The British Government, child welfare, and child migration to 

Australia after 1945'. - EVVMOOOOBO pp20-23). With the benefit of hindsight, the 

difficulties in drawing up the regulations serve to highlight why the child migration 

programmes should have been terminated sooner than they were. If the regulations 

could not achieve protection for the children who were migrated, all of whom would be 

recognised by today's standards as vulnerable, then they should not have been 

migrated at all. 

44. Agreements called "Outfits and Maintenance agreements· made between the CRO and 

voluntary organisations provided (i) for the Secretary of State to make a contribution 

towards the cost of an outfit in respect of each child embarked, (ii) that the voluntary 

organisation would be responsible for the care and maintenance of all the children they 

migrated and (iii) for the Secretary of State to make a contribution towards the 

maintenance of the child, subject to being satisfied the child had actually been 

maintained at an approved establishment (see e.g BRD000082 - Outfits and 

Maintenance Agreement with Dr Bamado's dated 9 August 1962). These agreements 

came up for renewal or reconsideration at various points during the period with which 

the Inquiry is concerned (for example, both when the agreements expired and when 
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the Empire Settlement Acts came up for renewal). Whilst pre-conditions for the 

agreements were not governed by legislation, they presented an opportunity for the 

government to consider the suitability of arrangements and impose conditions (which 

was recognised by the government - see for example the memorandum from Mr 

Shannon to Mr Gibson - DO35/10254 at pp6-7). Whilst latterly some pre-conditions 

were incorporated into the agreements (see again g BRD000082 clauses 5, 7 and 8), 

they were not used effectively to enforce policies and standards for child welfare and 

child safety. I refer the Inquiry to the comments of one Home Office official in 1958 (in 

response to a letter sent by to the Home Office by Mr Ross, who was concerned about 

Fairbridge's new 'one-parent' migration scheme): 

Our influence, exerted against opposition from the emigration societies, the 
Overseas Migration Board and the Commonwealth Relations Office is 
contained in Articles 5, 7 and 14 of the agreement. Article 5 is of little more 
than theoretical value. The terms used in it probably have a different meaning 
in Australia and we have no means of knowing whether its provisions are 
being honoured, still less of coercing the [Fairbridge] Society. Article 7, and 
the informal agreement on which it is based, enable us to inspect the work of 
the Society in this country and it is our best hope of reforming their methods. 

(HO361/50 memo of RJW dated 17 February 1958) 

Steps the government took to inform themselves beforehand (i.e. before children were 
sent) of the conditions for the children in the institutions in the Destination Territories 
to which they were to be sent 

45. Material within the Home Office files shows that officials were concerned about the 

difficulties in obtaining information about the conditions in Australia. See, for example: 

A note prepared by Miss Maxwell of the Home Office in August 1947 following a 

meeting with Mr Dixon of the CRO: 

"It was difficult for the Home Office, however, to get adequate information 
about the Homes in Australia to which children would emigrate and about the 
general standards of child care accepted in the dominion. There is here a 
vigilance and interest, and a reforming spirit, which probably does not exist in 
Australia. We had also difficulty in knowing how far the wider needs of the 
children such as contact with ordinary families in Australia and knowledge of 
Australian life, also the need for after-care on leaving the homes, were 
realised" (EWM000223 pp.4-5). 

A letter from the Home Office to the Scottish Home Department dated 20 September 

1950: 

"As you may know, we are very short of first-hand information about the 
arrangements for the reception and welfare of children who emigrate" 

(MH102/2335 p.21) 
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46. This concern about the lack of information appears to have been one of the factors 

that led to the Ross Report being commissioned (see e.g. letter from Sir Saville Garner 

to the Overseas Migration Board in 1955 "I think it is certainly true we do not have 

sufficient information about conditions in Australia, and an authoritative report would 

be extremely useful" - INQ000094 p.2 and a subsequent note "the primary motive of 

the board is no doubt to endeavour to obtain material which would allay the fears of 

children specialists. We must, however, I think admit that there is a considerable lack 

of authoritative and up-to-date information as to the conditions at the reception end 

and how the children fare - DO35/10190 pp55-57). 

47. I set out in the following paragraphs the various ways in which information was sought, 

and obtained, prior to the Ross Report. 

Advice from Home Office before a premises was approved for funding 

48. In order to obtain funding pursuant to the Empire Settlement Acts, the receiving 

institutions had to be approved by the CRO. The CRO sought the Home Office's 

advice as to whether an institution should be approved. Minutes of a meeting from 

1954 contain some discussion as to whether the practice of seeking Home Office 

views should continue, and the decision was taken that the Home Office should 

continue to advise the CRO "on the basis of the type of arrangements that will be 

required by the regulations" (see note of meeting dated 12 January 1954 

MH102/1 406). 

49. I am aware of one instance from 1944 where it appears that the CRO approved a 

home - Nazareth House, Geraldton - without reference to the Home Office (see 

MH102/1882 p3 and p9), but am unable to say whether, apart from this case, the 

views of the Home Office were always sought before a home was approved. There is a 

lack of consistency across the files as to whether the Home Office view was 

determinative. For example: 

a. In 1954 there was correspondence between the CRO and the Home Office 

as to whether to approve St Cuthbert's Home for Boys for the reception of 

migrant boys (MH102/1891 pp.23-33). The Home Office decided to defer 

the decision to approve the home in light of an ongoing case against the 

principal of the home for excessive corporal punishment of boys 

(MH102/1891 pp.15-17). 
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b. Between 1948 and 1951 there was correspondence between the CRO and 

the Home Office concerning Thurgoona orphanage. The CRO position 

appears to have been that the orphanage should be included in the scheme 

being set up with the Australian Catholic Immigration Department. The 

Home Office expressed reservations, but there is note in the minutes page 

to the effect it was not for Home Office to "approve" the home or the 

scheme but to sound "a warning note" in respect of welfare arrangements 

(MH102/1881 p.4). 

c. Between 1950 and 1955 there was correspondence between the CRO, the 

Home Office and the Department of Immigration concerning the approval of 

a Nazareth House Home in Victoria (MH102/1882) . The Home Office had 

concerns about Nazareth Homes generally ("generally regarded as being 

somewhat backward and restrictive· p.3; "Miss Harrison's views strengthen 

the reports that the Nazareth Homes in Australia share the same 

institutional character of the homes in this country .... there is also some 

doubt as to the adequacy of the aftercare arrangements" p.4 and "it is not 

uncommon to find the staff inadequate both as to number and as to 

qualifications" p.69) but did approve the Victoria home (pp57 - 61). The file 

contains a letter from the CRO asking the Home Office whether there is 

anything it can do to help fill the home. The Home Office's response was 

that "we cannot see any way in which the Home Office can undertake to 

assist to find children in !the) United Kingdom to send to Australia") (pp36-

37). 

50. There is a CRO file concerning the Fairbridge Farm School in Pinjarra which is 

relevant to this topic (MH102/1406). It portrays anxiety by the government at various 

stages about the lack of information it had about the conditions in the school, but the 

school was ultimately approved, seemingly without those concerns really being 

addressed. 

a. The minutes page on the file starts in 1948 and contains a long note in 

which the author recognises that: 

"it is difficult at this distance to comment on the local arrangements at 
Pinjarra, since the two reports... on which any observation must be 
largely based, are in some [ways) insufficiently specific or entirely 
silent on matters relevant to the question of a [conclusive) opinion by 
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the HO. For example, while we learn that a Principal has been 
appointed, we are not told, as far as I can see, what his qualifications 
and previous experience are, nor what quality or number of staff he 
will have at his disposal". 

The author goes on to say that: 

"(whilst it had been indicated that] it was not proposed to receive 
children until improvements had been effected, it is disquieting that 
according to the reports already referred to nothing had been done to 
put the schoolroom into a proper condition ... I cannot judge, but the 
delay in dealing with this aspect of the general provision does not 
encourage confidence in the attitude of the organisation regarding the 
relative importance of the educational facilities". 

The note states that there is no indication in the reports that aftercare 

arrangements, in line with the Home Office view, have been put in place. 

b. The next entry reads: 

"It seems likely that the school rooms will be put into proper condition 
between the time of the report and the arrival of the children. The point 
is being watched by W Garnett [of the High Commission] who is very 
well versed on the problems of childcare and may be depended on to 
insist on the standards we require. The work of improvement is going 
ahead and the present position at Pinjarra seems to be good enough, 
on the whole, to justify the emigration of 100 children there. 
Presumably we should ask for an undertaking that the facilities for 
education should be brought up to standard and ask Garnett to report 
from time to time. The arrangements for inspection on behalf of the 
State Government are not the concern of the Home Office" 

c. The next entries are typed notes from Mr Lyon of the Home Office who 

states that he agrees with the CRO that no objection should be made to the 

next party of children arriving but that assurances as to the schoolroom 

should be sought. He was satisfied that the Fairbridge Society in London 

was making appropriate efforts "to achieve standards of childcare not less 

satisfactory than those expected by the Home Office". 

d. In 1950 the Australian Department of Immigration sent the High 

Commission a report on the school by the local authorities, which contained 

some details about the number of children, buildings and staff and 

concluded ''we are perfectly satisfied that everything is being done at this 

institution to make the migrant children happy and contented". 

e. In 1952 Mr Moss reported unfavourably on the school. The Australian 

Department of Immigration responded to the concerns he had raised in a 
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manner that the High Commission described as "not very forthcoming" and 

with "an attempt to reject or brush off Moss' complaints". The CRO wrote to 

the Home Office seeking its "early views" on the criticisms, as Fairbridge 

was seeking an extension of their agreement imminently. The Home Office 

responded to say it was "disposed to think the criticisms could mainly be 

met by a keen principal, possibly even without the additional supervisory 

staff Moss recommends. Since there is hope that the new principal will 

effect some improvements, our provisional decision is to leave matters as 

they stand for the moment, provided that we can be given a report .. . in 12 

months time". 

f. Thereafter the file contains further reports from the state authorities in 

Australia and a report from the High Commission, but in 1954 there is a 

letter from the Home Office to the CRO which again suggests that the 

Home Office felt uneasy about the standards of care in the school ("the sort 

of information given in the reports ... is not sufficient to enable us to say 

whether the standard of care is adequate... We do not feel there is 

sufficient evidence to show what has been done to meet the criticisms 

made by Mr Moss"), but nonetheless decided that there was "no question of 

withholding approval to the extension of the agreement with Fairbridge, but 

we feel it would be reasonable for you to ask to be satisfied on the matters 

which this letter raises·. 

Local inspections. 

51 . There are a lot of reports showing that homes were all inspected locally by the 

Australian state authorities, but the subject matter of the reports largely relates to the 

fabric of the premises, equipment etc (see for example the inspection reports for 

Nazareth House, Geraldton dated 20 May 1954 and 29 June 1953 MH102/1882 pp30-

35). 

Other inspections 

52. Apart from the local inspections, there was no regular system of inspections conducted 

or organised by the Home Office or the CRO of the institutions to which child migrants 

were sent. Apart from the Moss and Ross reports, the inspections that were carried out 

were either relatively informal inspections by the High Commission or individuals who 
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were going to Australia and had an interest in the farm schools. As set out at 

paragraph 45 above, there are comments in a numbers of the files which make it clear 

that officials in the Home Office were concerned that they did not have sufficient first 

hand information about the conditions in Australia and about the quality of the reports 

they received. 

53. In October 1944 Mr Garnett (then secretary to the High Commissioner in Australia, 

later to become a principal of one of the homes) prepared a report which was shared, 

inter a/ia, with the CRO, the Home Office and the Fairbridge Society (INQ000018). The 

report addressed generally the value of the farm school schemes in Australia. VVhilst 

Mr Garnett concluded that the farm school system justified itself by results, he raised a 

number of concerns about the staff and supervision. He recorded that the Child 

Welfare Department in Western Australia was concerned at that time about the 

principals and staff at the farm schools. He noted their view that the Australian farm 

schools had an unfortunate record in terms of selecting "the right type of man" as 

principal, and that "the standard of cottage mothers requires improvement''. In respect 

of the Australian Committees for the farm schools he states that that they were 

composed of people "who in general have no previous experience with children•. 

54. In June 1950 Muriel Welford, of the Women's Voluntary Services (Children's Welfare) 

sent her report to the Horne Office following a visit to Australia and New Zealand. She 

reported favourably on Fairbridge Farm School in Molong, Fairbridge Farm School in 

Pinjarra and Northcote Farm School but made less favourable comments on the 

arrangements In New Zealand (MH102/2334 pp9-29). 

55. In July 1950 Miss Harrison, a welfare officer from the Scottish Home Department, 

provided a report on the homes she had visited, which was shared with the Home 

Office. She concluded that "Australia is a magnificent country for the fit but no place for 

those requiring permanent spoon feeding. Care should be taken to see that no really 

defective child is sent out, for the sake of the child and the honour of Britain" 

(MH102/2335 pp11-14). 

56. Between 1951 and 1952 Mr Moss carried out his inspections. The experts have 

covered this at section 5.5 of their first report and I agree their summary of both the 

contents of the report and the subsequent reservations of the Home Office about being 

seen to sponsor the practice of child emigration. 
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57. Mr Crook (from the High Commission) visited a number of homes in the early 1950s 

and prepared informal reports on them. He explains in a letter to the CRO in November 

1951 that the purpose of visiting the homes so soon after Mr Moss had visited was "to 

gain some idea of what the places looked like" and "by comparing my reaction to his 

[Mr Moss] "I hope to be able to get into my mind what constitutes a good home· 

(MH102/2044) 

a. In 1951 Mr Crook explained that his impression was that the existing 

system was sound in relation to the "normal child" but that the "difficult 

child" throws "a spanner in the works". He provided short reports on the 

following homes: St Brigid's Orphanage, Ryde; Dalmar Methodist Home, 

Cartingford; Church of England Boys' and Girls' Home, Car1ingford; Dr 

Barnado's Gins' Training Home, Burwood; St John's Boys' Home, 

Canterbury; Young Christian Brotherhood hostel, Hawthorne; Nazareth 

House, East Camberwell; Peace Memorial Homes Burwood (MH102/2044). 

b. In 1952 Mr Crook reported on his inspection of homes in Queensland and 

provided short reports on St George's Home Parkhurst; St Joseph's in 

Neerkol; Salvation Army Training Farm, Riverview; Queen Alexandria 

Home for Children in Coorparoo; Margaret Marr Home in Wynnum; 

Methodist Homes in Brisbane; Shaftsbury Homes. The inspection report 

was sent to the CRO and the Home Office (MH102/2044). 

58. In 1956 the Ross Committee reported. Again, this is dealt with by the experts at 

section 5.6 of their first report and I do not repeat the matters they address. I cannot 

add to their analysis. 

Once the children were sent to the Destination Territories, what steps did the 
government take to keep themselves informed of the progress of the children who 
had been sent? Were any written or oral reports requested or received? If so, can they 
be produced? Were any inspections carried out of either the children or the 
institutions in which they resided after the children had been sent? 

59. I have not seen any evidence to suggest that officials within government took steps to 

keep themselves informed as to the progress of individual children. It is fair to say, 

however, that (i) they received some information as to the progress of some children 

during the course of their inspections of the voluntary organisations from 1957 

onwards, and (ii) the Home Office did advise the voluntary organisations as to its 

expectations in respect of the after care of children who had been migrated (see for 
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example the document entitled 'Emigration of Children who have been deprived of a 

normal home life' at CMT000207 p5). 

60. I note also that on 18 September 1998 Cornwall County Council wrote to the local MP 

following the publication of the Health Select Committee's Report. They enclosed a 

series of extracts from monitoring reports (held in its archives) on the care and 

progress of children who had been migrated (DOH000011 p. 43), suggesting that 

Cornwall County Council had made some efforts to inform itself of the progress of 

children migrated from its care. 

61 . I have addressed above (at paragraphs 51-58) the inspections of the institutions that I 

am aware of. 

What documents does the government hold in relation to each ch ild sent to the 
Destination Territories, or in relation to the development and operation of the Child 
Migration Programmes? 

62. I have not seen or been made aware of documentation to suggest that the government 

requested or kept records relating to every child that was migrated over the relevant 

period. 

63. I understand (although I have not viewed them myself) that some of the closed files at 

TNA contain lists of children and details of their circumstances provided by the sending 

organisation (including the local authorities). The information provided included matters 

such as the children's or their parents' attitude to migration, their home conditions and 

whether they had been approved or rejected for migration. However, I cannot say 

whether this was a consistent practice throughout the period and across all the 

organisations; if it was, then a large number of records are no longer available. The 

Home Office does not appear to have maintained anything like a register of all the 

children it knew to have been migrated. 

64. The government files containing documents relating to the development and operation 

of the child migration programmes, which include all the issues that have been covered 

in this statement, are stored in The National Archives. Following the 1992 adjournment 

debate, a list was compiled of the files that were considered likely to hold information 

concerning the programmes (DH000008 pp62-80). 
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Reports, allegations or complaints of child sexual abuse of children selected for 
migration, prior to their being sent abroad. 

65. I have not seen or been made aware of any reports, allegations or complaints of child 

sexual abuse of children selected for migration prior to their being sent abroad. 

Reports, allegations or complaints of child sexual abuse of child migrants during the 
journey abroad. c 

66. I have not seen or been made aware of any reports, allegations or complaints of child 

sexual abuse of children during the journey (although I am aware of the evidence of 

CM20 that this happened to her). 

Reports, allegations or complaints of child sexual abuse of child migrants once they 
had arrived in institutions or other situations overseas / Reports or correspondence 
indicating that child migrants were at risk of sexual abuse once they had arrived in 
institutions or other situations overseas. r 

67. A Home Office file from 1949 contains an undated report entitled "Memorandum 

submitted by Mr Dallas Paterson on emigration of children overseas and relating to his 

own experience as principal of Fairbridge Farm School at Pinjarra, W Australia". The 

report is very critical of child migration generally (CMT000387). 

68. At paragraph 2(d) Mr Paterson states: "it cannot be over-emphasised that those taking 

responsibility to send British children overseas must retain a direct sense of 

responsibility. They must never be lulled into trusting any overseas authority to assume 

their responsibility ... (Let the behaviour of Perth WA Committee towards Fairbridge 

children and the failure of a Principal to protect his wards be a warning)". 

69. Appendix C to the report appears to contain details of the failure that Mr Paterson 

refers to. The clear inference is that a child was sexually abused: 

"the wife of the chairman of the Perth Committee arrived unheralded one day 
at the Farm School and ordered my predecessor to move a young Fairbridge 
girl, whom she had brought with her, to any employment in part of the state 
far away from where she had gone to her first employment as a mere child of 
14 with Mrs (X's) daughter. Her son-in-law was a man of no conscience and 
had behaved in the most seriously immoral way repeatedly over a long time 
(as the child later told her cottage mother and who in turn told After Care) ... 

"When I became principal I found no warning against this employer. After all, 
he was the Chairman's son-in-law .... 
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"Here is a perfect example of what can happen if the children are rated as of 
no account... a Principal meekly takes orders from a member of Committee, 
and does not refuse to send further children to a place of employment where 
one young child has been outraged time and again by a cynical scoundrel". 

70. The notes on the minutes page of this file do not address at all the report of this 

incident (MH102/2251). They record that the memorandum is undated "so it is difficult 

to say whether or not the contents refer to the Fairbridge scheme as approved for the 

emigration of children today. The criticisms of the scheme are however violenr. Mr 

Lyon of the Home Office concludes in the final note on this file "In view of what I 

believe are the subsequent discussions, no further action is required on this file". 

There is no indication on the file as to what those subsequent discussions entailed or 

why it was considered that no further action was required. 

71 . I have not seen or been provided with any documentation that throws any further light 

on this incident, but have been able to ascertain Mr Paterson was principal of Pinjarra 

between 1936 and 1937, so it is likely that the incident significantly pre-dated the time 

at which it was referred to the Home Office. 

72. Other than this incident, and that dealt with by the experts at 9.2 of their report relating 

to Picton and Normanhurst, I am not aware of any other reports of sexual abuse 

received by the government during the period in which the child migration policies 

were operating. 

Any reports or correspondence indicating that child migrants were at risk of other 
forms of abuse {i.e. physical abuse. psychological abuse or neglect} once they had 
arrived in institutions or other situations overseas. , 

73. I have already referred above to the undated Memorandum of Mr Paterson. As well as 

the account of the abuse suffered by one child, it contains criticisms about child 

migration generally and the inability of the Australian authorities to protect the children 

involved. 

74. In September 1947 a letter was sent by Mr Logan of Fairbridge to Miss Rosling in the 

Home Office concerning comments on a draft memorandum. There is an unexplained 

reference to "unfortunate experiences of a tragic nature" (MH102/1403 pp.2-4). I am 

not able to explain what Mr Logan is referring to here. 
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75. In October 1947 a Miss wrote to the Secretary of State raising 

concerns about the proposed resumption of migration of children to Australia and the 

extent to which safeguards for their welfare would be put in place. She explained that 

she had been at the Fairbridge School in Western Australia from 1934 to 1945 and did 

not consider "the system at present conducive to the children's happiness or welfare in 

a great many ways" (CMT000514 pp1-4). 

76. In June 1950 Miss Tempe Woods, who had worked at Northcote School in Victoria as 

Head Cottage Mother, wrote to the Home Office and was critical of staff and practices 

at the school, and reported that she understood "that children are now strapped for 

misdemeanours, as is the custom in Australia". It appears that the only action that was 

taken in response to the letter was to write to Ms Woods to acknowledge her letter 

(MH102/1594 pp7-14). 

77. In a Home Office file from 1954 concerning the approval of St Cuthbert's Home for 

Boys, the Home Office deferred the decision to approve the home in light of an 

ongoing case against the principal for excessive corporal punishment (MH102/1891). 

Reports, allegations or complaints of child sexual abuse of child migrants that have 
been made in the period s ince their migration to the present day. r::: 

78. The first report that has been identified in DH's files that former child migrants suffered 

sexual abuse is contained in CMT's fi rst application for funding under s.64 in 19894
• 

Annexed to the funding application is a document entitled "Annual Report of the Child 

Migrant's Trust: First Report for Year Ending July 31 1988". Page 5 of the report 

described the experience of many of the children who were migrated in the following 

terms: 

"Very many described their childhood [in] institutions which showed a lack of 
care, speaking of cruelty and abuse. Indeed a significant number described 
independently and consistently severe sexual and physical abuse which they 
and others had experienced" (DH000014 p.19). 

79. Thereafter, from the early 1990s to the present day, DH received occasional reports of 

abuse generally, including sexual abuse, suffered by child migrants (usually in the form 

of letters or letters of claim from the child migrants), and was made aware of press and 

documentaries which reported on the abuse suffered by child migrants. There is no 

doubt that from the early 1990s it was well understood by the government that a 

• It is possible that earlier reports were received by government departments through threatened legal action. but 
these have not been identified in our searches. 
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significant number of child migrants had claimed to have been sexually abused, and 

that certainly by the time of the Health Select Committee inquiry it was accepted that 

sexual abuse had occurred. See, for example: 

a. Page from the Weekend Australian dated 3 July 1993 containing a 

statement from the Christian Brothers that "the evidence is such as to 

convince us that abuses did take place, abuses that in some cases went 

well beyond the tough conditions and treatment that were part of life in such 

institutions in those days. Whilst the extent of the abuse appears to have 

been exaggerated in some quarters, the fact that such physical and sexual 

abuse took place at all in some of our institutions cannot be excused and 

for us is a source of deep shame and regret· (DH000012 p,8). 

b. In a written answer to a question from David Hinchcliffe, the Prime Minister 

(John Major) stated "I know there have been allegations of physical and 

sexual abuse of a number of child migrants in Australia some years ago in 

Australia. I am not aware of any allegations involving the British authorities 

or claims against them for compensation" (DH000012 p, 14). 

c. In February 1995 the High Commission sent a letter to the FCO containing 

allegations from a former child migrant that he and others had been 

sexually abused by a Marist brother. The letter was passed to the 

Department of Health (DH00008 p21-27) 

d. On 30 August 1995 Leigh Day wrote to the Secretary of State for Health on 

behalf of around 200 child migrants seeking an apology, compensation for 

personal injuries and the cost of being reunited with their families. The letter 

states that their clients suffered physical and sexual abuse between the 

ages of 4 and 14 (DH000012 pp.63-66). 

e. On 28 May 1999 Rooth and Wessels solicitors sent a letter of claim on 

behalf of a woman who had been migrated to then Southern Rhodesia 

which contained a number of allegations about poor treatment, including 

"The Padre ... , who in order to please the senior boys made the daughters 

lie spread eagled on his desk, pulled down their underwear to their ankles, 

and then caned them in front of the room ful l of boys" (DH00013 p.1 ). 
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To what extent has the DoH (or predecessor bodies) engaged with bodies, following 
the end of the Child Migration Programmes, tasked with investigating allegations of 
the abuse (including sexual abuse) of former child migrants? Please provide copies of 
your submissions, if any, to any bodies. [ 

80. Following the debate in Parliament in 1993 the government opened up the closed files 

in TNA to bona fide researchers, including the CMT, to assist them in their efforts to 

trace the histories of former child migrants. 

81 . In September 1996 officials from DH and the FCO met with the Western Australia 

Select Committee (DH000008 p.114). The disclosed briefing notes show the lines that 

the government proposed to take in response to the Select Committee's Terms of 

Reference (DOH000008 p.102). 

82. DH took the lead in relation to the government's response to the Health Select 

Committee into the Welfare of Former Child Migrants. 

a. DH provided a memorandum setting out the government's position on the 

former policy of child migration (Health Select Committee Part 2 (DH000010 

pp. 46-59); 

b. On 16 July 1998 the Secretary of State gave evidence to the HSC 

DH000011 pp. 4-12; 

c. DH provided a response to the resulting Report. 

Has the DoH (or predecessor bodies) held any internal inquiries into its own role in 
the Child Migration Programmes? Please provide copies of any reports setting out the 
findings of such inquiries as well as any follow-up reports documenting the 
implementation of recommendations arising from such reports. O 

83. As set out in my first statement, DH and its predecessor organisations (DHSS etc) had 

no role in migration policy or practice for the years that child migration was taking 

place. 

84. The purpose of the Health Select Committee was to consider the welfare of former 

child migrants, and to look at the framework within which the programmes had 

operated. No other inquiries have been held by DH or other government departments 

into the government's role in the child migration programmes. 
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Please set out a short summary of the way in which the Family Restoration Fund I 
FRA is administered. In addition to anything else you feel would be important to the 
lnguiry. please set out: Cil the circumstances in which. and the reasons for which, the 
DoH was asked to administer the FRF: Ciil the administrative structure of the fund: (iii} 
(iii) statistics reflecting the number of applications that have been made to the fund. 
the number of applications that have been successful, the average amount awarded 
to successful applicants, the total amount awarded over the life of the fund. C 

85. It is helpful to set out more generally the background to the funding of the CMT, the 

Travel Fund and the Family Restoration Fund. 

Funding of the GMT 

86. Under s.64 of the Health, Services and Public Act 1968 the Secretary of State for 

Health has power to make grants to voluntary organisations whose activities support 

the DH's policy priorities. There are eligibility criteria for the funding, and the published 

priority of such grants is for "proposals that promote health and wellbeing and address 

inequalities through the provision of relevant and trustworthy information, advice and 

support". 

87. Since 1990 the CMT has applied for and, in most (but not all) years, received funding 

under s.64. This funding is distinct from the Travel Fund and the Family Restoration 

Fund, which could/ can only be used to facilitate the family reunions. 

88. The CMT first applied for a s.64 grant in 1989. In the application CMT set out their aims 

and objectives, which were: 

a. To provide a professional social work and counselling service for former 

child migrants and their families; 

b. To undertake research into family background, and where appropriate to 

arrange reunions; 

c. To provide advice and assistance to former child migrants on matters of law 

and medical history; 

d. To learn more about the effects of separation on children; 
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e. To provide counselling to former child migrants who suffered physical, 

sexual and emotional abuse and to learn about the effects of such abuse so 

knowledge could be shared with relevant professionals and agencies; 

f. To research and promote research into the extent, operation and 

organisation of the child migrant scheme. (DOH000014 p.3) 

89. The CMT was awarded a one year Core Grant of £20,000 for the year 1990/1991 . The 

CMT applied for, but did not receive, funding for the years 1991-1992 and 1992-1993. 

Thereafter s.64 grants were paid to the CMT every year which varied in amounts 

depending on their activities and need in any given year. Between 2004 and 2007 

responsibility for the s.64 grants rested with the Department for Education and Skills, 

but in all other years the grant applications have been made to and approved by DH. 

The total s.64 funding awarded between 1990 and the year ending March 2017 is 

£7.392 million. I enclose at Appendix A a table showing the annual funding. 

90. The grant applications show what the funding was for each year. The funding 

applications continued to refer to the provision of counselling services to those who 

had suffered abuse, although whilst the early applications specifically refer to sexual 

abuse, the more recent applications refer more generally to childhood trauma and 

abuse. Through my own involvement with the CMT and their grant applications I am 

aware that part of the service they provide to former child migrants is counselling for 

those who have suffered sexual abuse. I have always understood this to be part of 

what the grant paid for, but none of the s.64 funding has ever been specifically ring­

fenced for that purpose. 

91 . Since 2010 the grants have been higher than previously because the CMT assumed 

responsibility for administering the Family Restoration Fund and because, following the 

apology, we anticipated an increase in demand for its services. 

The Travel Fund 

92. Following the recommendations of the Health Select Committee, the government 

established the Travel Fund to help reunite families separated by child migration. This 

was a £1 million scheme which lasted for 3 years (1998 - 2002). The money in the 
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travel scheme was only used to facilitate reunions; the administrative costs of running it 

were funded separately. 

Family Restoration Fund 

93. The Family Restoration Fund ("FRF") was established after the national apology in 

2010. The purpose of the FRF is to facilitate former child migrants being reunited with 

their families, to include the cost of travel and expenses. Under the provisions of the 

fund it could be used both by former child migrants who wanted to fly to the UK and 

family members from the UK who wanted to fly to their relatives. It was a £6 million 

fund, which was funded by a £1 million grant from the Department of Children, Schools 

and Family and the remainder from DH's discretionary programme funding. 

94. The FRF is administered by the CMT. The s.64 grant funding it has received annually 

covers the administrative costs of this aspect of its work. DH's internal audit team 

looked at the management of the FRF when they audited the CMT in 2012. DH 

requested that some changes be implemented following the audit and have, since 

those changes have been implemented, always considered the FRF to be well and 

efficiently managed. DH meets with CMT quarterly to ensure that it has oversight of 

the administration of the FRF and, for example, to agree questions of eligibility for 

access to the fund. In addition DH receives monthly update reports which set out the 

number of trips made, cancelled and pending. The most recent report contains the 

following summary table (which shows all applications since 2010): 

Travel completed 1089 84% 
Cancelled 169 13% 
Not e ligible 20 2% 
Open 11 1% 
Total Applications 1289 100% 

Waiting list Applications 59 
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Additional matters: the circumstances leading to the National Apology and the 
decision to set up the FRF 

95. One of the Health Select Committee's recommendations was in the following terms: 

We have received different views on the issue of an apology for the human suffering 
arising from the British child migration scheme. Some felt it to be irrelevant, but there 
was a significant number who would welcome a formal acknowledgement of the 
wrongs they had suffered. We believe an apology is in order but think that the best 
acknowledgement would be for the British Government to take urgent action on the 
recommendations in this report. 

In its response the Government stated that in its view the child migration policies were 

misguided and offered sincere regrets to the former child migrants and their families 

who saw themselves as deeply scared. 

96. In 2003, under a 'Machinery of Government' change, responsibil ity for children's social 

care policy transferred to the Department for Education and Skills and with it, 

responsibility for issues relating to former child migrants and funding of the CMT. In 

early 2007 responsibility for supporting former child migrants passed back to DH. 

97. At the end of 2007 the Secretary of State met with Kevin Barron MP who raised the 

issue of a reparation scheme for former child migrants (DH000009 pp.5-6) 

98. In early 2008 I had a conversation with Ian Thwaites, the then service manager at the 

CMT. Following our conversation he wrote to me setting out details of the present 

context and concerns of the former child migrant community. He explained that as 

there was movement in Australia towards an apology, and there was increasing 

international recognition of the long term consequences of historic child abuse, the 

increasing focus of the former child migrants' anger was with the British Government 

for its failure to provide a response which met their pleas for social justice. He said that 

the Travel Fund had not benefitted enough people, and had raised expectations which 

it could not fulfil, increasing the sense of injustice from those who were excluded 

(DH000009 p.11). 

99. Following those meetings, on 23 January 2008, I prepared a briefing note for the 

Secretary of State noting that the funding of travel costs still appeared to be an issue 

for former child migrants and that the issues of an apology and reparations were 
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complex and would need discussion across government, but that they should be 

explored (DH000009p.2). 

100. In April 2008 Prime Minister Gordon Brown met with the Australian Prime Minister 

Kevin Rudd. Prime Minister Gordon Brown had indicated by then that it was his 

intention to work with the Australians to take forward the question of what more could 

be done to help the former child migrants (DH000009 p.13-18). 

101. I met with members of the CMT in April 2008, who reiterated that the view among 

former child migrants was that the British Government should apologise, because the 

harm was initiated by our policies. In terms of what more could be done, CMT identified 

additional services for former child migrants (to be identified), a financial package to 

enable former child migrants to have some choice in how they accessed travel 

services, and continuity and certainty of funding for CMT (DH000009 p.20). 

102. After this meeting Margaret Humphrey sent me a report setting out in more detail the 

outstanding issues from the CMT's perspective (DH000009 p.33), which were: (1) an 

apology, (2) reparations (the proposal was a one-off payment for each surviving former 

child migrant, rather than a payment that distinguished between different experiences), 

(3) continued provision of CMT's services and (4) a Truth and Reconciliation 

Commission. The Secretary of State then wrote to the Prime Minister and other 

relevant departments about these issues, and specifically to seek his views on whether 

in principle an apology should be made and financial reparations. (DH000009 p.49). 

The issue of an apology was referred thereafter for legal advice. 

103. In July 2009 the Secretary of State wrote to the Prime Minister again, proposing that 

the UK government should make an official and public apology to former child migrants 

and should commit to continue to support the CMT beyond the 3 year package that 

had been agreed ending 2010. (DH000009 p.61). 

104. In September 2009 the Secretary of State for Children, Schools and Families 

confirmed that his department agreed there should be a national apology and funding 

of the CMT should continue (DOH000017 p.4). 

105. The FCO then coordinated with the Australian authorities about what had been said 

and done in Australia previously, and their next steps (DOH000017 p.12). It was 

confirmed that: 
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a. By the end of 2009 the Australian Government would apologise to those 

who had suffered child abuse in institutional settings (referred to as ''the 

Forgotten Australians") including former child migrants. 

b. The question of redress was considered by the Australians to be the 

domain of the individual states or the past care providers. I understand the 

position in each of the Australian states to be as set out in paragraphs c-h 

below. 

c. Western Australia: the State Government had apologised in August 1998 to 

former child migrants who had suffered sexual, physical and emotional 

abuse, but at that time had voted against re-establishing a select committee 

to investigate the needs of former child migrants or redress. In April 2005 

they had apologised lo "people who were harmed in institutional care", and 

in December 2007 had announced the establishment of Redress Western 

Australia for children abused and neglected in state care. 

d. Queensland: In 1999 the treatment of former child migrants in Queensland 

was included in the Report of the Commission of the Inquiry into Abuse of 

Children in Queensland Institutions (the Forde Report) and an apology was 

issued by a number of people and institutions, including the Premier of 

Queensland and the heads of relevant churches. A redress scheme was 

created in October 2007. 

e. South Australia: In November 2004 the Commission of Inquiry into Children 

in State Care was established. An interim report was delivered in 2005 and 

the final report in 2008. In 2008 the State Government, together with the 

churches, apologised to those who had suffered or witnessed abuse or 

neglect whilst in state care. In July 2008 a task force was established to 

examine redress for child victims of sexual abuse. 

f. New South Wales: In November 2005 the State Government apologised for 

the harm and distress suffered by children in New South Wales institutions. 

g. Victoria: In August 2005 an apology was delivered in the State Parliament 

to children who suffered abuse, neglect or lack of care in out of home care. 
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In 2008 the Victoria State Government announced it would not establish a 

redress scheme but would deal with abuse cases on a case by case basis. 

h. Tasmania: In August 2003 the State Government announced a redress 

scheme for past abuse of children in state care, and in 2004 apologised to 

those abused whilst in state care. 

106. On 16 November 2009 Prime Minister Kevin Rudd apologised to the Forgotten 

Australians and former child migrants, and at this time the British Government 

announced its intention to make an apology in early 2010. We understood that it was 

important to former child migrants that they were consulted about the content of the 

apology, and so we liaised closely with the CMT on the apology from an early stage, 

both as to the content and the practicalities (DOH000017 p.60- 64) 

107. Whilst at that time the CMT informed us that compensation for former child migrants 

was not an issue, I recognised that the government and the department needed to 

agree a position both on the continued funding of the CMT (to which I considered we 

should commit) and the provision and administration of a travel fund (DOH000017 p.67 

- 69). 

108. Between November 2009 and the apology of 24 February 2010 a lot of work was 

undertaken across government and by the CMT in preparation for the apology. This 

included: 

a. Obtaining confirmation that Prime Minister wanted to be personally involved 

in the apology (which he did) (DOH000018 p.9). 

b. Multiple drafts of the wording of the apology, including incorporating input 

from the CMT and the International Association of Former Child Migrants 

and Their Families (DOH000018 p.55, DOH000019 p.19, 47 and 68-72). 

c. Planning 'the event' of the apology, which included discussion as to timing, 

the venue, liaising with the CMT and other countries as to the attendance at 

the apology and developing a communications strategy 

d. Ensuring the CMT was kept apprised of plans and developments and 

arranging support for its publicity/ media strategy (DOH000018 p.18 -22). 
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e. Making arrangements for the fee for a British Passport to be reimbursed for 

former child migrants (DOH000018 p.43 and OOH000019 p.67). 

f. Liaising with and updating No.10 (DOH000018 p.42). 

g. Seeking agreement that the apology to the former child migrants should be 

a non-party issue, and should engage the whole of parliament (DOH000019 

p.2). 

109. In respect of a further travel fund, I requested that the CMT prepare a proposal for 

managing such a fund so we could better understand what was required (DOH000018 

p.20). The CMT prepared a model for discussion of the Family Restoration Fund, 

setting out the likely demand, administrative implications and budget. It estimated that 

there would be 1000 applications, each seeking 2.5 visits, and so identified a budget of 

£6,250,000 (plus staff costs) (DOH000018 p.31). As can be seen from my briefing 

note for the Treasury, DH in effect adopted the CMT's proposal and set about making 

arrangements to facilitate the fund being establishment (DOH000018 p.35). 

110. I understand that an issue that the Inquiry may want to consider is why the apology 

was not made until 2010. From my reading of the documents from the 1990s, I think 

that after the Health Select Committee report it was felt that practical support for former 

child migrants was more important than an apology. I have set out above what I 

perceive to have been the point at which there was increased focus on the need for an 

apology, and the steps that we took to make sure that when it was made, we got it 

right. I hope and believe that we did. We tried to accommodate what the child migrant 

community were telling us at that time was most pressing, and would mean the most to 

them - namely a fulsome and personal apology, a substantial travel fund, commitment 

to ongoing funding of the CMT and reimbursement of the cost of British Passports. In 

addition, we felt it was very important to recognise the tireless work of the CMT, and in 

particular Margaret Humphrey, for championing and fighting for child migrants and their 

families. 
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Statement of Truth 

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true. 

Signed: 

Dated: _ _ l:t_-R-_ _.d~l.AA..(2_==-==--:2._o---'1_""::).__;__ ___ _ 
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APPENDIX A: ANNUAL CMT FUNDING 

2016-17 £684,000 
2015-16 £720,000 
2014-15 £800,000 
2013-14 £793,000 
2012-13 £841 ,000 
2011-12 £827,000 
2010-11 £670000 
2009-10 £250,000 
2008-09 £250,000 
2007-08 £220,000 
2006-07 £150,000 
2005-06 £100,000 
2004-05 £100,000 
2003-04 £150 000 
2002-03 £152,000 
2001-02 £200,000 
2000-01 £150,000 
1999-00 £150,000 
1998-99 £20,000 
1997-98 £25,000 
1996-97 £30,000 
1995-96 £30,000 
1994-95 £30 000 
1993-94 £30,000 
1992-93 £0 
1991-92 £0 
1990-91 £20,000 

TOTAL £7,392,000 
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